NUWC-NPT Technical Report 11,345 15 January 2002

# Joint Probability Density Function of Selected Order Statistics and the Sum of the Remaining Random Variables

Albert H. Nuttall Surface Undersea Warfare Department



# Naval Undersea Warfare Center Division Newport, Rhode Island

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

20020227 212

#### PREFACE

The work described in this report was funded under Project No. A101402, "Automatic Signal Classification," principal investigator Stephen G. Greineder (Code 2121). The sponsoring activity is the Office of Naval Research, program manager John Tague (Code 321US).

The technical reviewer for this report was Paul M. Baggenstoss (Code 2121).

Reviewed and Approved: 15 January 2002

Patuer J Dan

Patricia J. Dean Head, Surface Undersea Warfare Department



REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved		
OMB No. 0704-0188 Public reporting for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of					
Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to th	ne Office of M	anagement and Budget, Paperwo	rk Reduction Project (070	4-0188), Washington,	DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blan	ik) 2	2. REPORT DATE	3. REPORT	TYPE AND DAT	ES COVERED
		15 January 2002		Progres	S
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE				5. FUND	ING NUMBERS
Joint Probability Density Functio the Sum of the Remaining Rando	on of Selec om Variabl	eted Order Statistics and es			
6. AUTHOR(S)		·····			
Albert H. Nuttell					
Albert H. Nuttan					
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION N	NAME(S) A	ND ADDRESS(ES)		8. PERF	ORMING ORGANIZATION
Naval Undersea Warfare Center	Division				
1176 Howell Street				TR 11,	345
Newport, RI 02841-1708					
9. SPONSOBING/MONITOBING AGI		AF(S) AND ADDRESS(ES	<u>,                                     </u>	10 SPO	
			)	AGE	NCY REPORT NUMBER
Office of Naval Research					
Ballston Centre Tower One					
800 North Quincy Street					
Anington, VA 22217-3000					
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				I	
12a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY	STATEME	NT		12b. DIS	TRIBUTION CODE
Approved for public release: dist	tribution is	unlimited.			
		, annihou.			
13 ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 word	de)				
	usj				
A set of N independent, identi	ically dist	ibuted random variables	{x <sub>n</sub> }, with common	ı probability den	sity function p(x), are ordered into a
new set of dependent random va	riables (v	) each with a different r	robobility density (	function From	this letter set the number of levest
new set of dependent random va	inables (x	n), each whith a different p		Iuncaon. From	this latter set, the n <sub>1</sub> -th largest
random variable through the n <sub>M-</sub>	-1-th large	st random variable are se	elected. Then, the s	sum of the rema	ining N+1-M random variables is
computed, giving a total of M dep	pendent ra	indom variables.			
The joint probability density f	unction of	these M random variable	es is derived in a fo	rm involving a s	single Bromwich contour integral in
				in involving a c	single brontworr contour integral in
the moment-generating function	domain.	The integral is most easil	y numerically evalu	lated by locating	g (approximately) the real
saddlepoint of the integrand and	l passing t	he contour through this <b>j</b>	ooint. Very high ac	curacy in the pr	obability density function
evaluation is available by using r	numerical	integration instead of a s	addlenoint annrovi	mation	
		integration instead of a s		mation.	
14 SUBJECT TERMS					15 NUMBER OF BACES
Contour Integral		Moment-Generating Fi	Inction Sad	Idlenoint	50
Joint Probability Density Fund	ction	Order Statistics			
	01011	Order Statistics	Sig	nal Delection	
17. SECUBITY CLASSIFICATION	18 SECU	BITY CLASSIFICATION	19 SECURITY OF	ASSIEICATION	
OF REPORT	OF TH	IIS PAGE	OF ABSTRAC	T	20. Emiliation of AdditACI
Unclassified		Unclassified	Unclas	sified	SAR
NSN 7540-01-280-5500			l		Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	9
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLS	i
INTRODUCTION	1
SOME SPECIAL CASES	5
Joint PDF of the Largest RV and Sum of Remaining RVs	5
Joint PDF of the m-th Largest RV and Sum of Remaining RVs.	9
Joint PDF of the Two Largest RVs and Sum of Remaining RVs. 13	3
JOINT PDF OF n <sub>1</sub> -th LARGEST RV, n <sub>2</sub> -th LARGEST RV,,	
$n_{M-1}$ -th largest RV, and SUM of Remaining RVs	7
Common Nonlinear Transformation of Remaining RVs 19	)
Ratios of Random Variables	)
SUMMARY	L
APPENDIX A - EXAMPLES OF $c(u, \lambda)$ AND $e(u, \lambda)$	L
APPENDIX B - INTERCHANGE OF MULTIPLE INTEGRALS B-1	-
APPENDIX C - JOINT MGF OF SELECTED ORDERED SET AND REMAINDER C-1	-
REFERENCES	-

.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLS

c(u,λ)	Generalized cumulative distribution, equation (3)
$c_{h}^{(u,\lambda)}$	Auxiliary function, equation (46)
С	Bromwich contour in $\lambda$ -plane, equation (14)
CDF	Cumulative distribution function
CGF	Cumulant generating function
D	Constant, equation (43)
e(u,λ)	Generalized exceedance distribution, equation (4)
e <sub>h</sub> (u,λ)	Auxiliary function, equations (46) and (50)
Е	Expectation, equation (7)
EDF	Exceedance distribution function
F	Number of events, equation (39)
FO	First order
g	Joint PDF of ordered random variables, equation (2)
h(x)	Nonlinear transformation, equation (46)
IID	Independent, identically distributed
<sup>I</sup> n	n-th integral, equations (8) through (12)
Ι(λ)	Integrand function, equation (44)
M	Number of random variables of interest, equation (1)
MGF	Moment-generating function
n <sub>m</sub>	$n_{m}$ -th largest random variable, m=1:M-1, equation (1)
N	Number of original random variables { <b>x</b> <sub>n</sub> }
N(0,1)	Normalized Gaussian random variable, equation (47)
(N   M)	Binomial coefficient N!/[M! (N-M)!], equation (28)
p(x)	Probability density function of <b>x</b> <sub>n</sub>
p <sub>c</sub> (x)	Conditional probability density, equation (20)

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLS (Cont'd)

p <sub>e</sub> (x)	Conditional probability density, equation (30)
p <sub>r</sub>	Probability density function of ratios, equation (53)
$p_{z^{(z_1,z_2)}}$	Probability density of random vector $z$ , equation (15)
PDF	Probability density function
q(u)	Delta function, equation (14)
r <sub>m</sub>	m-th ratio of random variables, equation (51)
Re( $\lambda$ )	Real part of $\lambda$
RV	Random variable or random vector, equation (1)
so	Second order
то	Third order
u <sub>n</sub>	n-th argument of probability densities, equation (2)
U	Unit step function, equation (35)
w	Auxiliary probability function, appendix A
<b>x</b> <sub>n</sub>	n-th original random variable, n=1:N, equation (1)
<b>x</b> ′ <sub>n</sub>	n-th ordered random variable, equation (1)
У	Variable of integration, equation (45)
Z	M-dimensional random vector, equation (1)
<b>z</b> <sub>m</sub>	m-th random variable, equation (1)
z	Field point (nonrandom vector), equation (15)
z <sub>m</sub>	m-th component of field point z, equation (15)

**boldface** Random variable or random vector

iii

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLS (Cont'd)

.

.

λ	Argument of c function, equation (3)
$\lambda_{m}$	m-th argument of moment function, equation (7)
$\lambda_s$	Saddlepoint location, equation (45)
Φ	Cumulative Gaussian distribution, appendix A
$\mu(u_a, u_b, \lambda)$	Interval moment-generating function, equation (40)
μ(λ)	Moment-generating function of $x_n$ , equations (3), (5)
$\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda)$	Moment-generating function of $z$ , equation (7)

JOINT PROBABILITY DENSITY FUNCTION OF SELECTED ORDER STATISTICS AND THE SUM OF THE REMAINING RANDOM VARIABLES

#### INTRODUCTION

Detection and location of weak signals in random noise is frequently accomplished by the ordering of the random variables (RVs) in a measured data set, followed by an investigation of the locations and statistics of several of the largest RVs under consideration. Also of interest are the remaining smaller RVs in the data set, which can be used to estimate the background noise level and to form a basis for normalization, thereby realizing a constant false alarm processor.

In this study, the original data set  $\{\mathbf{x}_n\}$  is composed of N independent, identically distributed (IID) RVs with a common arbitrary probability density function (PDF)  $p(\mathbf{x})$ . This data set is ordered into the modified data set  $\{\mathbf{x}_n'\}$ , n=1:N, of dependent RVs, where  $\mathbf{x}_1' \geq \mathbf{x}_2' \geq \cdots \geq \mathbf{x}_N'$ . Then, M-1 RVs are selected from this latter data set, namely, the  $n_1$ -th largest RV, the  $n_2$ -th largest RV, ..., and the  $n_{M-1}$ -th largest RV (M  $\geq 2$ ), where, without loss of generality,  $1 \leq n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_{M-1} \leq N$ . Finally, the sum of the remaining RVs in the ordered data set is formed for a total of M dependent RVs. The joint M-th order PDF of these M dependent RVs is the quantity of interest. For convenience of notation, the M-dimensional random vector (RV)  $\mathbf{z} = [\mathbf{z}_1 \cdots \mathbf{z}_M]$  is defined as

$$\mathbf{z}_{1} = \mathbf{x}'_{n_{1}}, \ldots, \mathbf{z}_{M-1} = \mathbf{x}'_{n_{M-1}}, \mathbf{z}_{M} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbf{x}'_{n},$$
 (1)

ЪT.

where the tic mark on the sum denotes  $n \neq n_1, n_2, \dots, n_{M-1}$ . Thus, the first M-1 components of RV z satisfy the inequalities  $z_1 \geq z_2 \geq \dots \geq z_{M-1}$ . The joint PDF of M-dimensional RV z is of interest here.

To determine this joint PDF of RV z, a series of simpler problems will be solved first, and the results will be interpreted in terms of conditional PDFs. From these simpler results, the general form of the M-dimensional joint PDF of RV z in equation (1) can be deduced. The end result is a single one-dimensional contour integral for the joint PDF of z, which can easily and accurately be numerically evaluated by moving the contour of integration to pass through the saddlepoint of the integrand. As a backup, an alternative approach involving the joint M-dimensional moment-generating function (MGF) of RV z will also be derived; however, it is not as useful as the single contour integral indicated above.

Since the original RVs  $\{x_n\}$  are IID with common PDF p(x), the N-dimensional joint PDF of the ordered RVs  $\{x_n'\}$ , n=1:N, is simply

 $g(u_1, \dots, u_N) = N! p(u_1) \cdots p(u_N)$  for  $u_1 > u_2 > \cdots > u_N$  (2)

2

and zero elsewhere. The requirement that  $u_n > u_{n+1}$  for n=1:N-1 represents the statistical dependence amongst the ordered RVs.

For later use, it is convenient to define two auxiliary functions. First, using the common PDF p(x) of RV  $x_n$ , function

$$c(u,\lambda) = \int_{-\infty}^{u} dx \ p(x) \ exp(\lambda x)$$
(3)

is defined, which is a mixture of a cumulative distribution function (CDF) and an MGF. That is, c(u,0) is the first-order (FO) CDF of RV  $\mathbf{x}_n$ , while  $c(+\infty,\lambda)$  is the FO MGF  $\mu(\lambda)$  of RV  $\mathbf{x}_n$ , n=1:N. Variable u is real, while  $\lambda$  can be complex.

Also defined is the auxiliary function

$$e(u,\lambda) = \int_{u}^{+\infty} dx \ p(x) \ exp(\lambda x) , \qquad (4)$$

which is a mixture of an exceedance distribution function (EDF) and an MGF. That is, e(u,0) is the FO EDF of RV  $\mathbf{x}_n$ , and  $e(-\infty,\lambda)$ is the FO MGF  $\mu(\lambda)$  of RV  $\mathbf{x}_n$ , n=1:N. The two auxiliary functions are interrelated according to

$$c(u,\lambda) = e(-\infty,\lambda) - e(u,\lambda) = \mu(\lambda) - e(u,\lambda) , \qquad (5)$$

$$e(u,\lambda) = c(+\infty,\lambda) - c(u,\lambda) = \mu(\lambda) - c(u,\lambda) , \qquad (6)$$

where  $\mu(\lambda)$  is the common MGF corresponding to PDF p(x). Several useful examples of the  $c(u,\lambda)$  and  $e(u,\lambda)$  functions are listed in appendix A.

#### SOME SPECIAL CASES

# JOINT PDF OF THE LARGEST RV AND SUM OF REMAINING RVs

• •

For this special case, M = 2. The second-order (SO) MGF of RV  $z = [z_1 \ z_2]$  is given by the expectation

$$\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}) = \mathbf{E} \exp(\lambda_{1}\mathbf{z}_{1}+\lambda_{2}\mathbf{z}_{2}) = \mathbf{E} \exp\left(\lambda_{1}\mathbf{x}_{1}'+\lambda_{2}\sum_{n=2}^{N}\mathbf{x}_{n}'\right)$$

$$= \int \cdots \int d\mathbf{u}_{1}\cdots d\mathbf{u}_{N} g(\mathbf{u}_{1},\ldots,\mathbf{u}_{N}) \exp\left(\lambda_{1}\mathbf{u}_{1}+\lambda_{2}\sum_{n=2}^{N}\mathbf{u}_{n}\right)$$

$$= N! \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mathbf{u}_{1} p(\mathbf{u}_{1}) \exp(\lambda_{1}\mathbf{u}_{1}) \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_{1}} d\mathbf{u}_{2} p(\mathbf{u}_{2}) \exp(\lambda_{2}\mathbf{u}_{2}) \cdots$$

$$\times \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_{N}-1} d\mathbf{u}_{N} p(\mathbf{u}_{N}) \exp(\lambda_{2}\mathbf{u}_{N}) . \qquad (7)$$

Denote the integral on variable  $u_n$  by  $I_n$ . Then, by reference to equation (3),

$$I_{N} = c(u_{N-1}, \lambda_{2}) .$$
(8)

Next, there follows

$$\mathbf{I}_{N-1} = \int_{-\infty}^{u_{N-2}} du_{N-1} p(u_{N-1}) \exp(\lambda_2 u_{N-1}) c(u_{N-1}, \lambda_2)$$

Continuing in this manner leads to

$$I_{N-2} = \frac{1}{3!} \left[ c(u_{N-3}, \lambda_2) \right]^3, \dots,$$
(10)

$$I_{2} = \frac{1}{(N-1)!} \left[ c(u_{1}, \lambda_{2}) \right]^{N-1} , \qquad (11)$$

or, generally, to

$$I_{n} = \frac{1}{(N+1-n)!} \left[ c(u_{n-1}, \lambda_{2}) \right]^{N+1-n} \text{ for } n=2:N .$$
 (12)

Finally, the SO MGF of RV z is

$$\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}) = N \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_{1} p(u_{1}) \exp(\lambda_{1} u_{1}) \left[c(u_{1},\lambda_{2})\right]^{N-1} .$$
(13)

This single integral must be numerically evaluated to determine the SO MGF  $\mu_z(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$ .

For PDF  $q(u) = \delta(u - a)$ , the MGF is  $exp(\lambda a)$ , and the inverse Laplace transform is given by the Bromwich contour integral on C:

$$q(u) = \frac{1}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda u) \exp(\lambda a) = \delta(u - a) .$$
 (14)

This is an important reference case and will be used frequently.

The SO PDF of RV z at arbitrary field point  $z = [z_1 \ z_2]$  is

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = \frac{1}{(i2\pi)^{2}} \iint_{C} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \exp(-\lambda_{1}z_{1}-\lambda_{2}z_{2}) \mu_{z}(\lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2})$$

6

$$= \frac{N}{(i2\pi)^2} \iint_C d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2 \exp(-\lambda_1 z_1 - \lambda_2 z_2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_1 p(u_1) \exp(\lambda_1 u_1)$$
$$\times \left[c(u_1, \lambda_2)\right]^{N-1} = N p(z_1) \frac{1}{i2\pi} \iint_C d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_2) \left[c(z_1, \lambda)\right]^{N-1}, \quad (15)$$

where use has been made of equation (14).

Since the RVs must always satisfy  $\mathbf{z}_2 < (N-1) \ \mathbf{z}_1$ , the field point  $z = [z_1 \ z_2]$  should be chosen so that field components  $z_2 < (N-1) \ z_1$ ; otherwise, the integral result in equation (15) will yield zero. This result may be deduced directly from the integral for SO PDF  $p_z(z_1, z_2)$  in equation (15) as follows. Function  $c(u,\lambda)$  in equation (3) is analytic in  $\lambda$  for  $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda) > \lambda_c$ , a problem-dependent critical value. Also,  $c(u,\lambda) \sim \exp(\lambda u)$  as  $\lambda \rightarrow +\infty$ , since the largest that x can be in equation (3) is x = u. Therefore, the integrand in equation (15) is

$$\exp(-\lambda z_2) \left[ c(z_1, \lambda) \right]^{N-1} \sim \exp\left[-\lambda \left(z_2 - (N-1) z_1\right)\right] \text{ as } \lambda \to +\infty . (16)$$

If contour C is moved far to the right in the  $\lambda$ -plane, where the integrand is guaranteed to be analytic, then the integrand tends to zero if  $z_2 > (N-1) z_1$ . Therefore, SO PDF  $p_z(z_1, z_2)$  is zero in that region of field space. The joint PDF in equation (15) can be written as

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = \left(N p(z_{1}) [c(z_{1})]^{N-1}\right) \frac{1}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{2}) \left(\frac{c(z_{1}, \lambda)}{c(z_{1})}\right)^{N-1},$$
(17)

7

where

$$c(z_1) = c(z_1, 0) = \int_{-\infty}^{z_1} dx p(x)$$
 (18)

is the common FO CDF of RVs  $\{\mathbf{x}_n\}$ , n=1:N. However, the leading factor in equation (17) is just the FO PDF of the largest RV  $\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{x}'_1$ . Therefore, the remaining term must be the conditional FO PDF of RV  $\mathbf{z}_2$  at argument  $\mathbf{z}_2$ , given that  $\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{z}_1$ . Expressing

$$\frac{c(z_1,\lambda)}{c(z_1)} = \int_{-\infty}^{z_1} dx \frac{p(x)}{c(z_1)} \exp(\lambda x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx p_c(x) \exp(\lambda x) , \quad (19)$$

the quantity  $p_c(x)$  is recognized as the conditional PDF of each of the <u>remaining</u>  $\{x_n\}$  RVs, given that the largest one,  $x'_1$ , has taken on the value  $z_1$ . That is,

$$p_{c}(x) = \begin{cases} p(x)/c(z_{1}) & \text{for } x < z_{1} \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & 0 & \text{for } x > z_{1} \end{cases} = p_{x_{n}} \left( x \mid x_{1}' = z_{1} \right) .$$
(20)

The corresponding conditional MGF is given in equation (19). Since all the remaining  $\{\mathbf{x}_n\}$  RVs are still independent of each other (even given that the largest RV  $\mathbf{x}'_1 = \mathbf{z}_1$ ), the last term in the integral in equation (17) is the FO MGF of the sum  $\mathbf{z}_2$  of the remaining N-1 RVs, given that RV  $\mathbf{z}_1$  equals value  $\mathbf{z}_1$ . Finally, the inverse Laplace transform in equation (17) yields the conditional FO PDF (at argument  $\mathbf{z}_2$ ) of RV  $\mathbf{z}_2$ , which is the sum of the remaining RVs, given that RV  $\mathbf{z}_1$  has taken on the value  $\mathbf{z}_1$ . JOINT PDF OF THE m-th LARGEST RV AND SUM OF REMAINING RVs

Again, M = 2, while the RVs of interest are now

$$\mathbf{z}_{1} = \mathbf{x}'_{m}$$
,  $\mathbf{z}_{2} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbf{x}'_{n}$ , (21)

where the tic mark on the sum denotes 
$$n \neq m$$
. The SO MGF of RV  
 $\mathbf{z} = [\mathbf{z}_1 \ \mathbf{z}_2]$  is  
 $\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = \mathbf{E} \exp \left(\lambda_1 \mathbf{x}'_m + \lambda_2 \sum_{\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{x}'_n\right)$   
 $= \int \cdots \int d\mathbf{u}_1 \cdots d\mathbf{u}_N \ g(\mathbf{u}_1, \dots, \mathbf{u}_N) \ \exp \left(\lambda_1 \mathbf{u}_m + \lambda_2 \sum_{\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{u}_n\right)$   
 $= N! \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mathbf{u}_1 \ p(\mathbf{u}_1) \ \exp(\lambda_2 \mathbf{u}_1) \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_1} d\mathbf{u}_2 \ p(\mathbf{u}_2) \ \exp(\lambda_2 \mathbf{u}_2) \ \cdots$   
 $\sum_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_{m-2}} u_{m-1} \ p(\mathbf{u}_{m-1}) \ \exp(\lambda_2 \mathbf{u}_{m-1}) \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_{m-1}} d\mathbf{u}_m \ p(\mathbf{u}_m) \ \exp(\lambda_1 \mathbf{u}_m)$   
 $\times \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_m} d\mathbf{u}_{m+1} \ p(\mathbf{u}_{m+1}) \ \exp(\lambda_2 \mathbf{u}_{m+1}) \ \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\mathbf{u}_{m-1}} d\mathbf{u}_N \ p(\mathbf{u}_N) \ \exp(\lambda_2 \mathbf{u}_N) \ . (22)$ 

The N-m innermost integrals immediately integrate to

$$\frac{1}{(N-m)!} [c(u_{m}, \lambda_{2})]^{N-m} .$$
 (23)

The remaining m integrals in equation (22) require that  $u_1 > u_2 > \cdots > u_m$ . Expressing this requirement (see appendix B) as  $u_m < u_{m-1} < \cdots < u_2 < u_1$  enables the alternative form for the SO MGF to be written as

$$\mu_{z}(\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}) = \frac{N!}{(N-m)!} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_{m} p(u_{m}) \exp(\lambda_{1}u_{m}) [c(u_{m},\lambda_{2})]^{N-m}$$

$$\times \int_{u_{m}}^{\infty} du_{m-1} p(u_{m-1}) \exp(\lambda_{2}u_{m-1}) \cdots \int_{u_{2}}^{\infty} du_{1} p(u_{1}) \exp(\lambda_{2}u_{1}) . \quad (24)$$

The m-1 innermost integrals are simply

$$\frac{1}{(m-1)!} \left[ e(u_{m}, \lambda_{2}) \right]^{m-1} .$$
 (25)

The SO MGF of RV z then follows as

$$\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}) = m {\binom{N}{m}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ p(u) \ \exp(\lambda_{1}u) \ [c(u,\lambda_{2})]^{N-m} \ [e(u,\lambda_{2}]^{m-1}.(26)]$$

For m = 1, this result reduces to the earlier special case in equation (13).

The SO PDF of RV z is given by the two-dimensional inverse Laplace transform of equation (26), namely,

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = \frac{1}{(i2\pi)^{2}} \iint_{C} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \exp(-\lambda_{1}z_{1} - \lambda_{2}z_{2}) \mu_{z}(\lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2})$$
$$= m \binom{N}{m} p(z_{1}) \frac{1}{i2\pi} \iint_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{2}) [c(z_{1}, \lambda)]^{N-m} [e(z_{1}, \lambda)]^{m-1} , (27)$$

where equation (14) was used. For m = 1, this result reduces to that in equation (15). For  $m \ge 2$ , there is no limit on the

ranges of components  $z_1, z_2$  of field point z (except where PDF value  $p(z_1) = 0$ ). That is, RV  $z_2$  in equation (21) can be arbitrarily larger than RV  $z_1$ , and the corresponding PDF value  $p_z(z_1, z_2)$  can be nonzero. In terms of the integral in equation (27) for  $p_z(z_1, z_2)$ , the difference for  $m \ge 2$  is that  $e(z_1, \lambda)$  is only analytic for  $Re(\lambda) < \lambda_e$ , a problem-dependent critical value. Any attempt to move contour C to the right in the  $\lambda$ -plane will encounter a singularity of the analytic continuation of  $e(z_1, \lambda)$ at  $Re(\lambda) = \lambda_e$ , thereby leading to a nonzero integral result for  $p_z(z_1, z_2)$  at any  $z_1, z_2$ .

The SO PDF of RV z can be written as

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = m \binom{N}{m} p(z_{1}) [c(z_{1})]^{N-m} [e(z_{1})]^{m-1}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{12\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{2}) \left(\frac{c(z_{1}, \lambda)}{c(z_{1})}\right)^{N-m} \left(\frac{e(z_{1}, \lambda)}{e(z_{1})}\right)^{m-1} .$$
(28)

The first factor (upper line) is the FO PDF of the m-th largest RV  $\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{x}'_m$ . That is, any one of the N RVs  $\{\mathbf{x}_n\}$  could take on value  $z_1$ ; then, there are (N-1|m-1) possibilities for which m-1 RVs lie above  $z_1$  and the remaining N-m RVs lie below  $z_1$ . Thus, the total number is N (N-1|m-1) = m (N|m), with each of these possibilities having probability  $[c(z_1)]^{N-m} [e(z_1)]^{m-1}$ .

The second factor in equation (28) is the conditional PDF of RV  $\mathbf{z}_2$  at argument  $\mathbf{z}_2$ , given that RV  $\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{z}_1$ . It is also the

11

inverse Laplace transform of the conditional FO MGF of the sum  $\mathbf{z}_2$ of the remaining N-1 RVs, given that  $\mathbf{x}'_m = \mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{z}_1$ . The ratio

$$\frac{e(z_1,\lambda)}{e(z_1)} = \int_{z_1}^{\infty} dx \frac{p(x)}{e(z_1)} \exp(\lambda x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx p_e(x) \exp(\lambda x)$$
(29)

is the conditional MGF of each of the remaining RVs that lie above  $\mathbf{z}_1^{},$  and

$$p_{e}(x) = \begin{cases} p(x)/e(z_{1}) & \text{for } x > z_{1} \\ 0 & \text{for } x < z_{1} \end{cases}$$
(30)

is the corresponding conditional PDF, given that  $\mathbf{x}'_{m} = \mathbf{z}_{1} = \mathbf{z}_{1}$ . Since all of the m-1 remaining RVs that lie above value  $\mathbf{z}_{1}$  are independent of each other, and all of the N-m remaining RVs that lie below value  $\mathbf{z}_{1}$  are independent of each other, the conditional MGFs can be multiplied together to give the conditional MGF of the remaining sum RV. Finally, the inverse Laplace transform in equation (28) gives the conditional PDF of interest. JOINT PDF OF THE TWO LARGEST RVs AND SUM OF REMAINING RVs

For this special case, M = 3 and the RVs of interest are

$$\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{x}'_1$$
,  $\mathbf{z}_2 = \mathbf{x}'_2$ ,  $\mathbf{z}_3 = \sum_{n=3}^{N} \mathbf{x}'_n$ . (31)

The joint third-order (TO) MGF of RV  $\mathbf{z} = [\mathbf{z}_1 \ \mathbf{z}_2 \ \mathbf{z}_3]$  is

$$\mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}) = \mathbf{E} \exp\left[\lambda_{1}\mathbf{x}_{1}' + \lambda_{2}\mathbf{x}_{2}' + \lambda_{3}\sum_{n=3}^{N}\mathbf{x}_{n}'\right]$$

$$= \int \cdots \int du_{1} \cdots du_{N} g(u_{1},\dots,u_{N}) \exp\left[\lambda_{1}u_{1} + \lambda_{2}u_{2} + \lambda_{3}\sum_{n=3}^{N}u_{n}\right]$$

$$= N! \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_{1} p(u_{1}) \exp(\lambda_{1}u_{1}) \int_{-\infty}^{u_{1}} du_{2} p(u_{2}) \exp(\lambda_{2}u_{2})$$

$$\times \int_{-\infty}^{u_{2}} du_{3} p(u_{3}) \exp(\lambda_{3}u_{3}) \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{u_{N-1}} du_{N} p(u_{N}) \exp(\lambda_{3}u_{N})$$

$$N(N-1) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_{1} p(u_{1}) \exp(\lambda_{1}u_{1}) \int_{-\infty}^{u_{1}} du_{2} p(u_{2}) \exp(\lambda_{2}u_{2}) c(u_{2},\lambda_{3})^{N-2}.$$

$$(32)$$

The corresponding TO PDF is given by the three-dimensional inverse Laplace transform

=

$$p_{\mathbf{z}}(z_{1}, z_{2}, z_{3}) = \frac{1}{(i2\pi)^{3}} \iint_{C} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} d\lambda_{3} \exp(-\lambda_{1}z_{1}-\lambda_{2}z_{2}-\lambda_{3}z_{3})$$

$$\times \mu_{\mathbf{z}}(\lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}, \lambda_{3}) . \qquad (33)$$

Substitution of  $\mu_z$  from equation (32) into equation (33), an

interchange of integrals, and use of equation (14) results in

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}, z_{3}) = \frac{N(N-1)}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda_{3} \exp(-\lambda_{3}z_{3})$$

$$\times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du_{1} p(u_{1}) \delta(u_{1}-z_{1}) \int_{-\infty}^{u_{1}} du_{2} p(u_{2}) [c(u_{2}, \lambda_{3})]^{N-2} \delta(u_{2}-z_{2}) . (34)$$

The innermost integral on  $u_2$  is zero if  $z_2 > u_1$ . Therefore, its value is  $p(z_2) [c(z_2,\lambda_3)]^{N-2} U(u_1-z_2)$ , which gives the TO PDF

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}, z_{3}) = N(N-1) p(z_{1}) p(z_{2}) U(z_{1}-z_{2})$$

$$\times \frac{1}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{3}) [c(z_{2}, \lambda)]^{N-2} . \qquad (35)$$

The unit-step function U() merely emphasizes that field point  $z = [z_1 \ z_2 \ z_3]$  should have components  $z_1 > z_2$  because RVs  $z_1 > z_2$ always; that is,  $x'_1 > x'_2$ , by definition. The joint PDF must be zero if field point components  $z_1 < z_2$ .

Initially, there is no obvious limit on component  $z_3$  of field point z; however, because RVs  $x'_n < x'_2 = z_2$  for n=3:N, then

$$\sum_{n=3}^{N} \mathbf{x}'_{n} < (N-2) \mathbf{z}_{2} .$$
 (36)

Therefore, PDF  $p_z(z_1, z_2, z_3)$  will be nonzero for field point components  $z_3 < (N-2) z_2$ ; any choice for field point component  $z_3$ larger than  $(N-2) z_2$  will result in a zero value for PDF  $p_z$ .

14

This same result may be deduced from the integral relation for PDF  $p_z$  in equation (35); the analysis is identical to that in the discussion surrounding equation (16). In summary, field point z in PDF  $p_z(z)$  should satisfy  $z_1 > z_2 > z_3/(N-2)$  to realize nonzero values for  $p_z(z)$ .

Equation (35) can be written in the form

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, z_{2}, z_{3}) = N(N-1) p(z_{1}) p(z_{2}) [c(z_{2})]^{N-2}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{3}) \left(\frac{c(z_{2}, \lambda)}{c(z_{2})}\right)^{N-2} . \qquad (37)$$

The leading factor (upper line) is the joint SO PDF of  $\mathbf{x}'_1 = \mathbf{z}_1$ and  $\mathbf{x}'_2 = \mathbf{z}_2$  at arguments  $\mathbf{z}_1 > \mathbf{z}_2$ . The last factor is the conditional PDF of RV  $\mathbf{z}_3$  at argument  $\mathbf{z}_3$ , given values for RVs  $\mathbf{z}_1$ and  $\mathbf{z}_2$ . This reasoning is identical to that presented earlier.

# JOINT PDF OF $n_1$ -th LARGEST RV, $n_2$ -th LARGEST RV,..., $n_{M-1}$ -th LARGEST RV, AND SUM OF REMAINING RVs

Without loss of generality,  $1 \le n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_{M-1} \le N$  and  $M \ge 2$ . The first step is to identify the RVs

$$\mathbf{z}_{1} = \mathbf{x}'_{n_{1}}, \dots, \mathbf{z}_{M-1} = \mathbf{x}'_{n_{M-1}}, \mathbf{z}_{M} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbf{x}'_{n},$$
 (38)

where the tic mark denotes  $n \neq n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_{M-1}$ . Then, the field point  $z = [z_1 \ z_2 \ \cdots \ z_{M-1} \ z_M]$  is taken such that  $z_1 \geq z_2 \geq \cdots \geq z_{M-1}$ .

These events can only occur if the following conditions are met:  $n_1-1$  RVs must lie above  $z_1$ ;  $n_2-n_1-1$  RVs must lie between  $z_2$ and  $z_1$ ;  $n_3-n_2-1$  RVs must lie between  $z_3$  and  $z_2$ ;...;  $n_{M-1}-n_{M-2}-1$ RVs must lie between  $z_{M-1}$  and  $z_{M-2}$ ; and  $N-n_{M-1}$  RVs must lie below  $z_{M-1}$ . The number of ways in which these events can happen is

$$F = \frac{N!}{(n_1 - 1)! (n_2 - n_1 - 1)! \cdots (n_{M-1} - n_{M-2} - 1)! (N - n_{M-1})!}, \quad (39)$$

where  $M \geq 2$ .

If an "interval" MGF is defined as

$$\mu(u_{a}, u_{b}, \lambda) = \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} dx \ p(x) \ \exp(\lambda x) = c(u_{b}, \lambda) - c(u_{a}, \lambda)$$
$$= e(u_{a}, \lambda) - e(u_{b}, \lambda) , \qquad (40)$$

then the joint PDF of RV  $\mathbf{z} = [\mathbf{z}_1 \cdots \mathbf{z}_M]$  at field point z is

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, \dots, z_{M}) = F p(z_{1}) \cdots p(z_{M-1}) \frac{1}{12\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{M})$$

$$\times [c(z_{M-1}, \lambda)]^{N-n} M^{-1} [\mu(z_{M-1}, z_{M-2}, \lambda)]^{n} M^{-1} m^{-n} M^{-2} x \cdots$$

$$\times [\mu(z_{2}, z_{1}, \lambda)]^{n} 2^{-n} 1^{-1} [e(z_{1}, \lambda)]^{n} 1^{-1} . \qquad (41)$$

This result has been deduced as the natural extension of the earlier multiple integral approaches and their special cases in the previous section.

An alternative form, which is more amenable to programming, is

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, \ldots, z_{M}) = \frac{N!}{D} \prod_{m=1}^{M-1} \{p(z_{m})\} \frac{1}{i2\pi} \int_{C} d\lambda \exp(-\lambda z_{M}) I(\lambda) , \quad (42)$$

where constant

$$D = (n_1 - 1)! \prod_{m=1}^{M-2} \{ (n_{m+1} - n_m - 1)! \} (N - n_{M-1})!$$
(43)

and

$$I(\lambda) = [e(z_1, \lambda)]^{n_1 - 1} \underbrace{\underset{m=1}{\overset{M-2}{\vdash}} \left\{ [e(z_{m+1}, \lambda) - e(z_m, \lambda)]^{n_{m+1} - n_m - 1} \right\}$$
$$\times [c(z_{M-1}, \lambda)]^{N-n_{M-1}}.$$
(44)

For each  $\lambda$ , it is necessary to compute  $\{e(z_m, \lambda)\}$  for m=1:M-1 and  $c(z_{M-1}, \lambda) = \mu(\lambda) - e(z_{M-1}, \lambda)$ .

Letting  $\lambda = \lambda_s + iy$ , where  $\lambda_s$  is (fairly near) the real saddlepoint location of the integrand of equation (42), then the joint PDF in equation (42) can be expressed as

$$p_{z}(z_{1}, \dots, z_{M}) = \frac{N!}{D\pi} \prod_{m=1}^{M-1} \{p(z_{m})\} \int_{0}^{\infty} dy \ Re\{exp[-(\lambda_{s}+iy)z_{M}] \ I(\lambda_{s}+iy)\} .$$
(45)

# COMMON NONLINEAR TRANSFORMATION OF REMAINING RVs

If all the remaining N+1-M RVs in the last term of equation (38) are subjected to a common nonlinear transformation, h(x), prior to summation, the pertinent  $e(u,\lambda)$  and  $c(u,\lambda)$  functions above must be replaced by

$$e_{h}(u,\lambda) = \int_{u}^{\infty} dx \ p(x) \ \exp[\lambda \ h(x)] ,$$

$$c_{h}(u,\lambda) = \int_{-\infty}^{u} dx \ p(x) \ \exp[\lambda \ h(x)] = e_{h}(-\infty,\lambda) - e_{h}(u,\lambda) . \quad (46)$$

For example, if  $x_n = |g_n|$ , where  $g_n = N(0,1)$ , and if  $h(x) = x^2$ , then for  $Re(\lambda) < 1/2$ ,

$$e_{h}(u,\lambda) = \int_{u}^{\infty} dx \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \exp(-x^{2}/2) \exp(\lambda x^{2})$$
$$= \frac{2}{(1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \Phi\left(-u (1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \text{ for } u > 0; \quad \frac{1}{(1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \text{ for } u < 0 . \quad (47)$$

Also,

$$c_{h}(u,\lambda) = \frac{1 - 2\Phi\left(-u (1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{(1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \text{ for } u > 0; \quad 0 \text{ for } u < 0. \quad (48)$$

These are not the same functions encountered in example 4 in appendix A; rather, the functions here can be expressed as

$$e_h(u,\lambda) = e_4(u^2,\lambda)$$
,  $c_h(u,\lambda) = c_4(u^2,\lambda)$ . (49)

In general, letting RV  $\mathbf{y} = h(\mathbf{x})$ , there follows from equation (46)

$$e_{h}(u,\lambda) = \int_{u}^{\infty} dx \ p_{x}(x) \ \exp[\lambda \ h(x)] = \int_{h(u)}^{\infty} dy \ p_{y}(y) \ \exp(\lambda y)$$
$$= e_{y}(h(u),\lambda) .$$
(50)

# RATIOS OF RANDOM VARIABLES

The ratios of RVs are defined according to

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{z}_{\mathbf{m}} / \mathbf{z}_{\mathbf{M}} \quad \text{for } \mathbf{m} = 1 : \mathbf{M} - 1 \quad . \tag{51}$$

Then the joint PDF of  $[\mathbf{r}_1 \cdots \mathbf{r}_{M-1} \mathbf{z}_M]$  is

$$\tilde{p}(r_1, \dots, r_{M-1}, z_M) = (z_M)^{M-1} p_z(z_M r_1, \dots, z_M r_{M-1}, z_M) , \qquad (52)$$

while the PDF of RV  $\mathbf{r} = [\mathbf{r}_1 \cdots \mathbf{r}_{M-1}]$  is

$$p_{r}(r_{1},...,r_{M-1}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ u^{M-1} \ p_{z}(ur_{1},...,ur_{M-1},u) \ .$$
 (53)

It is necessary to carry out this one-dimensional integral on u to evaluate the PDF at the M-1 dimensional field point  $r = [r_1 \cdots r_{M-1}]$  of interest.

#### SUMMARY

The solutions for the joint PDFs of several simpler ordered statistics problems were obtained by first deriving the joint MGFs of the RVs of interest. Then, the multidimensional inverse Laplace transform back into the PDF domain was manipulated into a form that involved only a single contour integral in the MGF domain. Interpretation of the final form in terms of conditional MGFs and conditional PDFs afforded useful insights on the meanings of the various quantities involved, as well as on their interactions with each other. Finally, these results were extended to the general problem of M-1 ordered statistics and the sum of the remaining RVs in an original set of N IID RVs with arbitrary common PDF p(x).

Numerical evaluation of the joint PDF is most easily accomplished by locating (approximately) the real saddlepoint of the MGF integrand in the  $\lambda$ -plane, and using a Bromwich contour that passes through this point. It is not necessary to resort to a saddlepoint approximation in the one  $\lambda$  dimension; instead, very high accuracy in the numerical evaluation of the single integral for the joint PDF can be achieved with little computer effort.

An alternative approach to this problem is afforded by determining the joint MGF of the RV z and then resorting to a saddlepoint approximation to obtain the joint PDF at field point z of interest. This technique is presented in appendix C.

# APPENDIX A - EXAMPLES OF $c(u, \lambda)$ AND $e(u, \lambda)$

.

Equations (3) through (6) of the main text lead to

$$c(u,\lambda) = \int_{-\infty}^{u} dx \ p(x) \ \exp(\lambda x) = \mu(\lambda) - e(u,\lambda) ,$$
$$e(u,\lambda) = \int_{u}^{+\infty} dx \ p(x) \ \exp(\lambda x) = \mu(\lambda) - c(u,\lambda) ,$$

·

where  $\mu(\lambda)$  is the FO MGF corresponding to FO PDF p(x).

EXAMPLE 1 - EXPONENTIAL  

$$p(x) = \exp(-x) \quad \text{for } x > 0, \ 0 \quad \text{for } x < 0 ;$$

$$c(u,\lambda) = \frac{1 - \exp[-u(1-\lambda)]}{1-\lambda} \quad \text{for } u > 0, \ 0 \quad \text{for } u < 0 ;$$

$$e(u,\lambda) = \frac{\exp[-u(1-\lambda)]}{1-\lambda} \quad \text{for } u > 0, \quad \frac{1}{1-\lambda} \quad \text{for } u < 0 .$$
In the relation for  $e(u,\lambda)$ ,  $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda) < 1$  is also required.

EXAMPLE 2 - GAUSSIAN,  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{g} = N(0, 1)$ 

$$\begin{split} p(\mathbf{x}) &= (2\pi)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp(-\frac{x^2}{2}) \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{x} ; \\ c(\mathbf{u},\lambda) &= \exp(\lambda^2/2) \quad \Phi(\mathbf{u}-\lambda) \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{u},\lambda ; \\ e(\mathbf{u},\lambda) &= \exp(\lambda^2/2) \quad \Phi(\lambda-\mathbf{u}) \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{u},\lambda . \end{split}$$

The function  $\Phi$  is the CDF of a normalized Gaussian RV, namely,

$$\Phi(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} dt (2\pi)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp(-t^{2}/2) \text{ for all } x.$$

EXAMPLE 3 - MAGNITUDE GAUSSIAN,  $\mathbf{x} = |\mathbf{g}|$ 

$$\begin{split} p(x) &= \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp(-x^2/2) \quad \text{for } x > 0 \ , \quad 0 \ \text{for } x < 0 \ ; \\ c(u,\lambda) &= 2 \ \exp(\lambda^2/2) \ [\Phi(\lambda) - \Phi(\lambda - u)] \quad \text{for } u > 0, \quad 0 \ \text{for } u < 0 \ ; \\ e(u,\lambda) &= 2 \ \exp(\lambda^2/2) \ \Phi(\lambda - u) \ \text{for } u > 0, \quad 2 \ \exp(\lambda^2/2) \ \Phi(\lambda) \ \text{for } u < 0 \ . \end{split}$$

EXAMPLE 4 - SQUARED GAUSSIAN,  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{g}^2$ 

$$p(x) = \frac{\exp(-x/2)}{(2\pi x)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \text{ for } x > 0, \quad 0 \text{ for } x < 0 ;$$

$$c(u,\lambda) = \frac{1 - 2\Phi\left(-u^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - 2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \text{ for } u > 0, \quad 0 \text{ for } u < 0 ;$$

$$e(u,\lambda) = \frac{2\Phi\left(-u^{\frac{1}{2}}(1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{(1-2\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \text{ for } u > 0, \quad (1-2\lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \text{ for } u < 0.$$

In the relation for  $e(u,\lambda)$ ,  $Re(\lambda) < 0.5$  is also required.

EXAMPLE 5 - CHI-SQUARED RV OF 2k+2 DEGREES OF FREEDOM; k=0,1,2...

$$p(x) = \frac{x^k \exp(-x)}{k!}$$
 for  $x > 0$ , 0 for  $x < 0$ ;

$$c(u,\lambda) = (1-\lambda)^{-k-1} \left[1 - \exp\left(-u(1-\lambda)\right) \sum_{j=0}^{k} \frac{u^{j} (1-\lambda)^{j}}{j!}\right] \text{ for } u > 0,$$
  
= 0 for u < 0 ;

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{e}(\mathsf{u},\lambda) &= (1-\lambda)^{-k-1} \; \exp\left(-\mathsf{u}(1-\lambda)\right) \sum_{j=0}^{k} \; \frac{\mathsf{u}^{j} \; (1-\lambda)^{j}}{j!} \quad \text{for } \mathsf{u} > 0, \\ &= (1-\lambda)^{-k-1} \quad \text{for } \mathsf{u} < 0 \; . \end{split}$$

In the relation for  $e(u,\lambda)$ ,  $Re(\lambda) < 1$  is also required.

For complex arguments of  $\Phi$  in examples 2 through 4, the relation

$$\Phi(z) = \frac{1}{2} \exp(-z^2/2) w(-iz/\sqrt{2})$$

in terms of the w function (reference 1, chapter 7) is very useful.

The above results extend immediately to a scaled and shifted RV  $\tilde{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b} \mathbf{x}$  according to

$$\begin{split} \tilde{p}(x) &= \frac{1}{b} p\left(\frac{x-a}{b}\right) ,\\ \tilde{c}(u,\lambda) &= \exp(a\lambda) c\left(\frac{u-a}{b},b\lambda\right) ,\\ \tilde{e}(u,\lambda) &= \exp(a\lambda) e\left(\frac{u-a}{b},b\lambda\right) . \end{split}$$

# APPENDIX B - INTERCHANGE OF MULTIPLE INTEGRALS

Suppose a multiple integral over the range  $u_a < u_1 < u_2 < u_3 < u_4 < u_b$  is required, namely,

$$I = \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} du_{1} \int_{u_{2}}^{u_{b}} du_{3} \int_{u_{3}}^{u_{b}} du_{4} f(u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3}, u_{4}) .$$
(B-1)

This multiple integral may be expressed in numerous equivalent representations, such as

$$I = \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} du_{4} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{4}} du_{3} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{2}} du_{2} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{d}} du_{1} f(u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3}, u_{4})$$

$$= \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} du_{3} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{3}} du_{2} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{2}} du_{1} \int_{u_{3}}^{u_{d}} du_{4} f(u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3}, u_{4})$$

$$= \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} du_{2} \int_{u_{2}}^{u_{b}} du_{4} \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{2}} du_{1} \int_{u_{2}}^{u_{4}} du_{3} f(u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3}, u_{4})$$

$$= \int_{u_{a}}^{u_{b}} du_{1} \int_{u_{1}}^{u_{b}} du_{4} \int_{u_{1}}^{u_{4}} du_{2} \int_{u_{2}}^{u_{4}} du_{3} f(u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3}, u_{4}) .$$
(B-2)

Each pair of limits is chosen to be as tight as possible. The general rule is that if a potential limit variable has already been integrated out, the next tightest limit variable still active should be selected.

B-1 (B-2 blank)

### APPENDIX C - JOINT MGF OF SELECTED ORDERED SET AND REMAINDER

The RVs of interest are those listed in equation (38) and its sequel, except that the original RVs  $\{\mathbf{x}_n\}$  are specialized here to be exponential RVs with common PDF  $\exp(-u)$  for u > 0. The joint MGF of the ordered RVs  $\{\mathbf{x}'_n\}$ , n=1:N, is shown in reference 2 (page 68, equation (B-18)) to be

$$\mu_{O}(\alpha_{1},\ldots,\alpha_{N}) = \frac{N!}{(1-\alpha_{1})(2-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2})\cdots(N-\alpha_{1}-\cdots-\alpha_{N})}$$
(C-1)

for  $\alpha_1 < 1$ ,  $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 < 2$ ,...,  $\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_N < N$ . Alternatively, use of the Nx1 vector  $\alpha = [\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_N]^T$  produces

$$\mu_{O}(\alpha) = 1 / \prod_{n=1}^{N} \phi_{n}(\alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{N}) , \qquad (C-2)$$

where

$$\phi_n(\alpha) = 1 - \sum_{p=1}^{N} q_{np} \alpha_p$$
 for n=1:N (C-3)

and

$$q_{np} = \begin{cases} 1/n & \text{for } p=1:n \\ 0 & \text{for } p=n+1:N \end{cases} \quad \text{for } n=1:N \quad . \tag{C-4}$$

Now, the N×N matrix  $Q = [q_{np}]$  is defined. Then, N×1 vector

$$\phi(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_1(\alpha) \\ \vdots \\ \phi_N(\alpha) \end{bmatrix} = \underline{1} - Q \alpha , \qquad (C-5)$$

where <u>1</u> is an N×1 vector of ones. All the components  $\{\phi_n(\alpha)\}$  must be positive.

The joint MGF  $\mu(\lambda)$  of the RVs of interest in equation (38) is given by  $\mu_0(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N)$ , with every  $\alpha_n$  replaced by  $\lambda_M$  (that is,  $\alpha_n \rightarrow \lambda_M$ ), except for

$$\alpha_{n_1} \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \lambda_1$$
,  $\alpha_{n_2} \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \lambda_2$ , ...,  $\alpha_{n_{M-1}} \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \lambda_{M-1}$ . (C-6)

With Mx1 vector  $\lambda = [\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_M]^T$ , this replacement corresponds to the transformation  $\alpha = A \lambda$ , where NxM matrix A has ones in the M-th column, except for zeros in rows  $n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_{M-1}$ , and A has ones in row  $n_1$ , column 1; row  $n_2$ , column 2;...; and row  $n_{M-1}$ , column M-1. The result is joint MGF  $\mu(\lambda) = 1/\Pi\phi_n(\alpha = A \lambda)$ , where

$$\phi(\alpha) = \phi(A \lambda) = \underline{1} - P \lambda$$
,  $P = Q A = [p_{nm}]$ . (C-7)

The matrix P is N×M.

The joint cumulant generating function (CGF) corresponding to joint MGF  $\mu(\lambda)$  is

$$\chi(\lambda) = -\sum_{n=1}^{N} \log(\phi_n(A \ \lambda)) , \qquad (C-8)$$

where

$$\phi_n(A \ \lambda) = 1 - \sum_{m=1}^{M} p_{nm} \ \lambda_m \quad \text{for } n=1:N \ . \tag{C-9}$$

All N of these quantities  $\{\phi_n\}$  must be positive.

For purposes of evaluating the saddlepoint approximation and a correction term to the joint PDF corresponding to the joint MGF  $\mu(\lambda)$ , the following partial derivatives of the joint CGF are needed. Letting  $\phi_n = \phi_n(A \ \lambda)$  and  $b_{nm} = p_{nm} / \phi_n$  for n=1:N, m=1:M, then

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\partial \phi_n(A \ \lambda)}{\partial \lambda_m} = - p_{nm} \quad \text{for } n=1:N, \ m=1:M \ , \\ & \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_m} \chi(\lambda) = \sum_{n=1}^N b_{nm} \ , \\ & \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_m} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \lambda_k} \chi(\lambda) = \sum_{n=1}^N b_{nm} \ b_{nk} \ , \\ & \frac{\partial^3}{\partial \lambda_m} \frac{\partial^3}{\partial \lambda_k} \frac{\partial \lambda_k}{\partial \lambda_k} \chi(\lambda) = 2 \sum_{n=1}^N b_{nm} \ b_{nk} \ b_{nk} \ , \\ & \frac{\partial^4}{\partial \lambda_m \ \partial \lambda_k} \frac{\partial^4}{\partial \lambda_k} \frac{\partial \lambda_k}{\partial \lambda_j} \chi(\lambda) = 6 \sum_{n=1}^N b_{nm} \ b_{nk} \ b_{nk} \ b_{nj} \ . \end{split}$$

C-3 (C-4 blank)

#### REFERENCES

- Handbook of Mathematical Functions, U.S. Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, Applied Mathematics Series, No. 55, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, June 1964.
- 2. A. H. Nuttall, "Detection Performance of Generalized Likelihood Ratio Processors for Random Signals of Unknown Location, Structure, Extent, and Strength," NUWC-NPT Technical Report 10,739, Naval Undersea Warfare Center Division, Newport, RI, 25 August 1994.

#### INITIAL DISTRIBUTION LIST

.

.

.

Addressee	No. of Copies
Center for Naval Analyses, VA	1
Coast Guard Academy, CT	_
J Wolcin	1
Commander Submarine Force, U.S. Pacific Fleet, HI	-
W Mosa CSP N72	1
Defense Technical Information Center	2
Criffics Air Force Base NV	~
Documents Library	1
J Michele	1
Hanscom Air Force Base MA	1
M Dangagwamy	1
Mational Radio Astronomy Observatory VA	1
E Cohrab	1
r. Schwad	10
National Technical Information Service, VA	1
Naval Environmental Prediction Research Facility, CA	1
Naval Intelligence Command, DC	T
Naval Oceanographic and Atmospheric Research Laboratory, MS	1
E. Franchi D. Wasstaff	1
R. Wagstall	1
Naval Oceanographic Ullice, MS	T
Naval Postgraduate School, CA	1
Superintendent	1
C. Therrien	Ţ
Naval Research Laboratory, DC	1
W. Gabriel	1
E. Wald	1
Naval Surface Warfare Center, FL	1
E. Linsenmeyer	
D. Skinner	Ţ
Naval Surface Warfare Center, VA	1
J. Gray	Ţ
Navai Technical Intelligence Center, DC	1
Commanding Ufficer	1
D. Rotnenberger	T
Naval Undersea Warlare Center, FL	1
Officer in Charge	1
Naval weapons Center, CA	T
OND 221 (D. Jahreen)	1
ONR 321 (D. Johnson)	1
ONR 32105 (J. Tague)	1
ONR 322 (R. Tipper)	1
ONR 334 (P. Adranam)	1
ONR 31 (R. R. JUNKER)	1
UNR SII (A. M. Van Tildorg)	1
UNK 512 (M. N. IOQET)	1
UNK 313 (N. L. GEIT)	1
ONR 32 (S. E. RAMDerg	1
UNR 321 (F. Herr)	1

#### Addressee

# No. of Copies

Office of Naval Research	
ONR 33 (S. G. Lekoudis)	1
ONR 334 (A. J. Tucker)	1
ONR 342 (W. S. Vaughan)	1
ONR 343 (R. Cole)	1
ONR 362 (M. Sponder)	1
Program Executive Office, Undersea Warfare (ASTO), VA	
J. Thompson, A. Hommel, R. Zarnich	3
U.S. Air Force, Maxwell Air Force Base, AL	
Air University Library	1
Vandenberg Air Force Base, CA	
CAPT R. Leonard	1
Brown University, RI	
Documents Library	1
Catholic University of America, DC	
J. McCoy	1
Drexel University, PA	
S. Kesler	1
Duke University, NC	
J. Krolik	1
Harvard University, MA	
Gordon McKay Library	1
Johns Hopkins University, Applied Physics Laboratory, MD	
H. M. South	1
T. N. Stewart	1
Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, CA	
L. Ng Log Alemon National Labourtown ABC	1
Morine Rielegigel Lebenstern, M	1
Library	
Massachusette Institute of Technology Ma	T
Barker Engineering Library	1
Massachusetts Institute of Technology Lincoln Laboratory MA	Т
V. Premus	1
J. Ward	1
Pennsylvania State University, Applied Research Laboratory, PA	T
R. Hettche	1
E. Liszka	1
F. Symons	1
D. Abraham	1
Princeton University, NJ	-
S. Schwartz	1
Rutgers University, NJ	
S. Orfanidis	1
San Diego State University, CA	
F. Harris	1
Scripps Institution of Oceanography, Marine Physical Laboratory, CA	
Director	1
Syracuse University, NY	
D. Weiner	1
Engineering Societies Information Center, Kansas City, MO	
Linda Hall Library-East	1

Addressee	No.	of	Copies
University of Colorado, CO			
L. Scharf			1
University of Connecticut, CT			
Wilbur Cross Library			1
C. Knapp			1
P. Willett			1
University of Florida, FL			
D. Childers			1
University of Hartford			~
Science and Engineering Library			1
University of Illinois IL			-
D Jones			1
D. Johnes University of Tilincia of Chicago, TI			1
Differsity of fillinois at chicago, ib			1
A. Nenoral			T
University of Massachusetts, MA			
C. Chen			1
University of Massachusetts Dartmouth, MA			
J. Buck			1
University of Michigan, MI			
Communications and Signal Processing Laboratory			1
W. Williams			1
University of Minnesota, MN			
M. Kaveh			1
University of Rhode Island, RI			
Library			1
G. Boudreaux-Bartels			1
S. Kav			1
D Tufts			1
University of Rochester NV			-
E Titlebaum			1
E. IICIEDadam University of Southern California CA			1
W Lindow			1
W. Diluderog			1
A. POLYdoros			Ŧ
University of Texas, TA			1
Applied Research Laboratory			Ţ
C. Penrod			1
University of Toronto			_
N. Reid			1
University of Washington, WA			
Applied Physics Laboratory			1
D. Lytle			1
J. Ritcey			1
R. Spindel			1
Villanova University, PA			
M. Amin			1
Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, MA			
Director			1
T. Stanton			1
Yale University, CT			
Kline Science Library			1
P. Schultheiss			1
			_

.

Addressee	No.	of	Copies
Analysis and Technology, CT Library			1
Analysis and Technology, VA D. Clark			1
Atlantic Aerospace Electronics Corp. R. Stahl			1
Bell Communications Research, NJ D. Sunday			1
Berkeley Research, CA S. McDonald			1
Biosgroup R. Perline			1
Bolt, Beranek, and Newman, CT P. Cable			1
Bolt, Beranek, and Newman, MA H. Gish			1
DSR, Inc., VA M. Bozek-Kuzmicki			1
EG&G Services, CT J. Pratt			1
D. Lerro			1
Harris Scientific Services NV			1
B. Harris Kildare Corporation. CT			1
R. Mellen Lincom Corporation, MA			1
T. Schonhoff Lockheed Martin, Undersea Systems, VA			1
M. Flicker Lockheed Martin, Ocean Sensor Systems, NY			1
R. Schumacher Marconi Aerospace Defense Systems, TX			1
R. D. Wallace MITRE Corporation, VA			1
S. Pawlukiewicz R. Bethel			1
E. A. Tagliarini			1
H. Cox Prometheus RI			1
M. Barrett J. Byrnes			1 1
Raytheon, RI R. Conner			1
S. Reese			1

#### Addressee No. of Copies Schlumberger-Doll Research, CT R. Shenoy 1 Science Applications International Corporation, CA C. Katz 1 Science Applications International Corporation, VA P. Mikhalevsky 1 Toyon Research, CA M. Van Blaricum 1 Tracor, TX T. Leih 1 Undersea Sensor Systems, Inc., IN R. Kenefic 1 Westinghouse Electric, Annapolis, MD H. Newman 1 Westinghouse Electric, Baltimore, MD R. Park 1 K. Harvel, Austin, TX 1